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1 BEFORE:

2   MS. LESLIE HAYNES and MR. GLENNON DOLAN,  
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3
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4
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  MR. THOMAS A. ANDREOLI
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11   MR. JOHN J. REICHART and
  MS. JANIS VON QUALEN (telephonically)

12   160 North LaSalle Street, Suite C-800
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13        Appearing on behalf of Staff;

14   MR. MARK N. PERA and
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15   28 North Clark
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17
  MR. ROBERT J. KELTER
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20   656 West Randolph Drive, Suite 500-W
  Chicago, Illinois 60661
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22 SULLIVAN REPORTING COMPANY, by
Tracy L. Ross, CSR
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1 JUDGE HAYNES:  Pursuant to the direction of

2 the Illinois Commerce Commission, we now call

3 Dockets 01-0705, 02-0067 and 02-0725.  These are

4 consolidated matters of the Illinois Commerce

5 Commission on its own motion versus Northern

6 Illinois Gas Company.

7 May I have the appearances, for the

8 record, please.

9 MR. ROONEY:  Yes, your Honor.

10 On behalf of Northern Illinois Gas

11 Company, d/b/a Nicor Gas, John Rooney and Thomas

12 Andreoli, Sonnenschein Nath & Rosenthal 233 South

13 Wacker Drive, Suite 8000, Chicago, Illinois

14 60606.

15 MR. KAMINSKI:  Mark Kaminski of the Illinois

16 Attorney General's Office on behalf of the People

17 of the State of Illinois, 100 West Randolph

18 Street, 11th Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60601.

19 MR. REICHART:  Appearing on behalf of the

20 Staff of the Illinois Commerce Commission, John

21 Reichart and Jan Von Qualen.  My address is 160

22 North LaSalle, Chicago, Illinois 60601.
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1 MR. PERA:  Mark N. Pera, P-e-r-a, and Leijuana

2 Doss, Cook County State's Attorneys Office

3 currently at 28 North Clark, Chicago 60602.

4 MR. KELTER:  Robert Kelter and Richard Balough

5 on behalf of the Citizens Utility Board, 208

6 South LaSalle, Suite 1760, Chicago 60604.

7 JUDGE DOLAN:  Are there any further

8 appearances?

9 MR. KELTER:  Is Jan lis- -- are people

10 listening in in Springfield today?

11 MR. REICHART:  Yes.  Jan Von Qualen.

12 MS. VON QUALEN:  Yes, I'm here.

13 MR. KELTER:  I just wanted to know if I need

14 to speak into the mic.

15 MS. VON QUALEN:  I would appreciate it.

16 JUDGE DOLAN:  Let the record reflect there are

17 no further appearances.

18 JUDGE DOLAN:  First and foremost, that was the

19 first thing that Judge Haynes and I wanted to

20 bring up is that we want to try to keep this

21 controlled, concise and get in and out of here as

22 quickly as possible.  I don't know if it's
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1 possible, but let's do what we can to try to

2 maintain some order and try to be civil about

3 everything.  It's my understanding we're here on

4 three things.  The first is Nicor's motion to

5 compel Staff.

6 Secondly, we're going to do the Cook

7 County State's Attorney motion to compel.

8 And, thirdly, we want to briefly touch

9 on the subpoena issue -- not the subpoenas, I'm

10 sorry, the affidavits pursuant to the subpoena of

11 the plaintiff's attorney.

12 So, first, we want to deal with, like I

13 said, Nicor's motion to compel to Staff.  Now,

14 Staff, I see that you've expanded your area of

15 objection from the last time?

16 MR. REICHART:  That is correct, your Honor.

17 JUDGE DOLAN:  Have you attempted to answer any

18 of the discovery whatsoever?

19 MR. REICHART:  Yes.  We did provide

20 substantive responses to the data requests back

21 in December as they applied to the Staff

22 witnesses testifying in the case and Mr. Donald
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1 McGuire, who is an accountant, who is assisting

2 in the case.

3 In addition to that, we provided one

4 initial round of responses that included the

5 witnesses that -- the Staff employees who we were

6 able to contact and speak with from Faden Energy

7 (phonetic) on December -- I'm sorry, on January

8 9th of this year.

9 We provided supplements -- in addition,

10 we periodically provided supplements to the

11 information we initially provided that was,

12 again, limited in scope to the Staff witnesses in

13 the case.

14 MR. ROONEY:  Your Honor, we -- in terms of

15 providing responses that's correct, generally,

16 I'd observe, though, we hadn't received anything

17 with relationship to our first set of data

18 requests since our last hearing.

19 JUDGE DOLAN:  All right.  So you haven't --

20 besides filing your objection to all of it, you

21 hadn't provided any --

22 MR. REICHART:  We have not updated since then. 
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1 In the course of preparing our objections, we

2 began to see that it probably is an issue that

3 we'd like to have addressed before going forward.

4 JUDGE DOLAN:  Now, just so we understand, in

5 reading your response, it appears you're really

6 concerned about a lot of conversational

7 information --

8 MR. REICHART:  That's correct.

9 JUDGE DOLAN:  -- as opposed to written

10 information.

11 MR. REICHART:  To the extent there are

12 communications, again, one of the fundamental

13 concerns that we have -- actually, two -- the

14 first is, it's our contention that discovery per

15 the rules of procedure applies to Staff witnesses

16 and I think we quote 200.340 that specifically

17 addresses discovery in front of the Commission

18 and refers to Staff witnesses and further in the

19 rules -- or previously in the rules, a definition

20 of Staff witness is provided as well as Staff or

21 Staff employees.  So there's a distinction in the

22 rules.  That distinction is important because
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1 there are references throughout the rules

2 especially in regard to discovery that refer to

3 Staff witnesses.  Staff witnesses is basically

4 defined as Staff's -- a Staff employee who either

5 files testimony or files an appearance in the

6 preceding.  That was our first concern.  So the

7 scope of the rules as they apply, it's our

8 contention that they should apply to Staff

9 witnesses filing testimony in the case.

10 The second concern that we have

11 regards -- to the extent the DRs are narrowed in

12 scope to Staff witnesses, if there is information

13 that concerns communication among Staff witnesses

14 or Staff in general, that information should be

15 subject to a governmental deliberative process

16 privilege and that goes to just very fundamental

17 concern regarding how the Commission Staff

18 operates.  There's, you know, constant

19 interaction and internal communication that goes

20 among Staff members; and if this type of

21 information has not been, you know, Staff -- that

22 interaction is conducted with the -- under the
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1 presumption that it's not subject to discovery

2 and we are not aware of instances where any

3 utility has pushed this far to obtain that

4 information.  Our concern is, if we are ordered

5 to provide that type of information in this

6 proceeding, it will necessitate a fundamental

7 shift in the way that the Commission operates --

8 Commission Staff operates in providing its

9 analysis, making its case, and, you know,

10 assisting the Commission, ultimately.

11 JUDGE DOLAN:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Rooney, correct

12 me if I'm wrong.  You're not so much looking for

13 conversational information; right?

14 MR. ROONEY:  Right.  In our pleading we filed

15 we said we would like, at a minimum, the

16 documents that were related to the issues that we

17 placed in our DR.

18 MS. VON QUALEN:  Judge Dolan, you asked about

19 conversational.  Are you talking about oral

20 communications as opposed to written

21 communications?

22 JUDGE DOLAN:  Yes, that's correct.
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1 MS. VON QUALEN:  I think to clarify John's

2 response.  We are concerned about written

3 communication amongst Staff.

4 MR. ROONEY:  I don't know if this is the

5 appropriate time, if you want any further

6 argument in response to what they've raised, so

7 I'll wait until you -- if you want to hear any

8 more argument or not your Honor.

9 JUDGE DOLAN:  Well, Jan, you're concerned

10 about, like, e-mails but I'm talking about

11 documentation as opposed to actual -- not like a

12 copy of an e-mail that's printed out or other

13 information.  I think they're looking more for

14 reports or any other --

15 MR. ROONEY:  Memos between Staff,

16 theoretically, when we were talking about

17 conversations, your Honor, it was in a context of

18 obviously oral conversations; but from our

19 standpoint, e-mail conversations to the extent

20 that they're recorded and they reflect a

21 discussion on the topic would be our -- we want

22 that information as well.
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1 MS. VON QUALEN:  Staff is concerned about

2 providing that information as opposed to work

3 papers, which Staff has already provided all of

4 the Staff witnesses --

5 MR. ROONEY:  I understand.  We're not here

6 debating the Staff work papers from the Staff

7 witnesses and in short --

8 JUDGE DOLAN:  Go ahead.

9 MR. ROONEY:  Just to the two points that

10 Mr. Reichart raised.  First of all, your Honor,

11 it's reversible error, flat and simple.  It would

12 be reversible error if we were not allowed to

13 obtain information that from the agency that in

14 this instance -- you can color it any way you

15 want it.  They're alleging that we committed some

16 type of fraud and the case law that we cited to

17 is in our brief; any agency that has information

18 that might be helpful to the party that they're

19 alleging are some problems with is to be

20 produced.

21 Second of all, from our understanding,

22 your Honors respectfully ruled on this back in
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1 January and that we thought that this was not an

2 issue up for debate in this second round of

3 objections, and then renewal objections -- not

4 renewal, the earlier objections.

5 As to the deliberative process

6 privilege -- oh, two points; the applicability of

7 Staff witnesses and what -- there's no

8 distinction, it's not just Staff witnesses, it's

9 Staff.

10 Second, the deliberative process

11 privilege, Staff is an active participant.  How

12 they discuss -- they are not deliberating and

13 making a final decision on any matter.  That goes

14 to your Honors and, ultimately, the five

15 Commissioners who sit on the bench.  And as our

16 case law that we cited in our brief reflects,

17 it's left to the highest authorities within the

18 State agency.  The deliberative process does not

19 apply to Staff's conversations about issues. 

20 Otherwise, we go back to what we are argued,

21 probably, in a couple of prior pleadings back;

22 under Staff's theory, they can pick and choose
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1 who they want as their witness on a particular

2 case; and by doing so, that would effectively

3 limit who a company may, in fact, seek

4 information from and there's no law for that.

5 Thank you.  Actually, Mr. Andreoli did

6 note that deliberative process -- it's in our

7 brief -- doesn't even apply in Illinois -- under

8 current Illinois law.  Thank you.

9 JUDGE DOLAN:  Thank you.

10 MR. REICHART:  In response to Mr. Rooney's 

11 last point, the majority -- in the Birkett Case

12 (phonetic), while it did not find that a

13 privilege existed in that instance, it did

14 identify a four-prong test where a privilege

15 would be appropriate.  As we discussed in our

16 brief, we feel that that test applies to the

17 Commission Staff in this case and the Commission

18 Staff in general.

19 Back to an earlier point made by

20 Mr. Rooney, there is a distinction made between

21 Staff versus Staff witnesses.  It is defined --

22 clearly defined Staff witness versus Staff in the
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1 Administrative Code.  And again, the Commission's

2 policy on discovery makes reference to Staff

3 witness and parties, it does not make reference

4 to Staff specific -- Staff generally.  We think

5 that is significant and certainly is consistent

6 with the way Staff has practiced in other cases.

7 And, again, our concern is, a ruling in this

8 matter could potentially necessitate a drastic

9 change in the way that Staff operates.

10 One more point, we have filed our

11 testimony.  We put forth the positions that we

12 intend to carry throughout the case into the

13 record through that testimony and our Staff

14 witnesses who are sponsoring that testimony have,

15 in fact, been subject or open to additional

16 discovery that is, perhaps, more specific to the

17 issues that they discuss than what the DR 1.01

18 through 1.58 deal with.

19 MR. ROONEY:  Your Honor, Mr. Zuraski's direct

20 testimony, Page 19, Line 367, the sentence reads,

21 In fact, internal memorandum revealed that the

22 Company was to keep this information from the
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1 Staff.  Not any particular Staff witnesses,

2 Staff, and was worried that Staff might figure

3 out the LIFO strategy on its own.

4 Again, we're being asked to effectively

5 fight with one hand behind our back in terms of

6 how we can cross.  Absolutely we're going to be

7 crossing their witnesses, but part of the other

8 issue is what other information did Staff have at

9 the time?

10 JUDGE DOLAN:  Is that an internal memo of

11 Nicor or is that an internal Commission document? 

12 The memo that's discussed in there.

13 MR. ANDREOLI:  The reference in the testimony

14 is to Nicor documentation.  The problem with the

15 approach that Staff is asking you to adopt is

16 that our case is, on the one hand that Staff's

17 case is legally and factually unfounded.  Our

18 case also is that Staff, as an entity, at all

19 times, had knowledge of the Company's use of

20 LIFO, of the value or the valuation of those

21 assets on Nicor's books and the practical

22 availability of those assets under the GCPP.
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1 Our client is being accused of

2 defrauding Staff and in Staff's view, the

3 Commission.  That's a serious claim.  Fraud is a

4 very ugly word.  Parties that allege fraud live

5 in glass houses.  An allegation of fraud is the

6 most serious kind of allegation a party can

7 bring.  And if a party is unwilling to show what

8 it knew, then that allegation cannot be brought. 

9 There can be no certainty in the process, there

10 can be no certainty in the determination on the

11 merits.  As your Honor, Judge Dolan, reserved

12 last week with respect to the limitation of

13 Staff's witnesses, it's simply unfair and that

14 was an accurate statement of Illinois law.

15 JUDGE DOLAN:  Thank you.  All right.  We're

16 going to take a break and discuss this.  

17                 (Recess taken.)

18 JUDGE DOLAN:  Judge Haynes and I conferred,

19 and I think we're in agreement that in order for

20 this to be a totally fair and impartial hearing,

21 that we're going to require Staff to comply with

22 answering all their questions as we set out in
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1 our prior ruling with the limited to the

2 Energy -- what was it, the Energy and Policy

3 Division?

4 JUDGE HAYNES:  Yes.

5 JUDGE DOLAN:  All right.  The Energy and

6 Finance related personnel.  In looking at this

7 record as a whole, I mean, it's a very serious

8 case.  There's a lot of allegations going back

9 and forth and we feel that it's important for

10 Nicor to get a fair hearing, that any and all

11 information has to be disclosed by all sources.

12 We also -- or, you know, understand your

13 concern that if it's going to change the way that

14 Staff operates that, you know, the Commission has

15 the final say.  They will look at it, if they

16 feel we are we're doing something wrong or, you

17 know, obviously, you know, they'll correct us if

18 they feel that we're wrong; but I think Judge

19 Haynes and I feel that it's very important for

20 this hearing to be, you know, conducted in a

21 manner where there's no elements of surprise,

22 there's no withholding of, you know, pertinent
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1 information from anybody.

2 And that goes to our final point, is

3 that -- and this is addressed to everybody --

4 that at the hearing, we don't want any surprises. 

5 We don't want any information that wasn't

6 previously disclosed to all of a sudden pop up

7 from a witness or from anyone else and we will

8 bar that from being admitted, if someone does try

9 to bring up any surprises that they wait until

10 the last minute to disclose or if they wait until

11 the hearing.  I mean, obviously, we understand

12 that everybody has a right to supplement their

13 interrogatories up until the time of the hearing,

14 but what I'm talking about is that if we have

15 some witness start to testify about something

16 that they knew about in advance and are trying to

17 just bring it out at trial, does everyone

18 understand that?

19 MR. ROONEY:  Yes, your Honor.

20 MR. PERA:  Yes.

21 MR. REICHART:  Your Honor, we would

22 respectfully request the opportunity to file an
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1 interlocutory appeal.

2 JUDGE DOLAN:  It's your right.

3 MR. ROONEY:  But, your Honor, I also note that 

4 does not stay your ruling, which is also part of

5 the rules.

6 MR. REICHART:  We would request a stay.

7 MR. ROONEY:  We would object to the stay, your

8 Honor.

9 MR. ANDREOLI:  The disclosure of the documents

10 and information is not material that could be

11 marked as confidential.  I'm only looking at the

12 timing aspect of this, and that would be the only

13 reason we would make an objection to the stay. 

14 And we would certainly treat the information as

15 confidential; and to the extent the Commission

16 took another view of the matter, frankly, we'll

17 return it.  But the only reason for the objection

18 is time.

19 JUDGE HAYNES:  How quickly could Staff have a

20 petition for interlocutory review?

21 MR. REICHART:  Can we have until next Friday?

22 MR. ROONEY:  Your Honors, to assist getting
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1 past this, if you're going to file, John, a week

2 from Friday, the 20th, we'll withdraw our

3 objection.  We will file a response on -- which

4 is our right -- by February 25th, which is

5 Wednesday and that can get it up to the

6 Commission in early March.

7 MR. PERA:  You know, we have an interlocutory

8 appeal that has similar, not identical, but some

9 similar issues; and I honestly don't know how the

10 Commission works.  But I think in fairness to the

11 Commission, they should at least know that CUB's

12 and Cook County's is pending so we try to

13 preclude an inconsistent ruling by them.  I don't

14 know what procedural method would be utilized to

15 consolidate those appeals, and I'm just throwing

16 it open, if you guys object, you know, I mean,

17 there is that risk.  I mean, if they were to

18 issue a ruling on our appeal and they do

19 something inconsistently on yours.

20 MR. ANDREOLI:  I tell you, Mark, I don't

21 certainly -- I hear what you're saying.  On the

22 other hand, the issue with respect to CUB and
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1 Cook County dealt with expert disclosure.  The

2 issue with respect to Staff deals with disclosure

3 by Staff, they're on opposite sides of the coin.

4 MR. KELTER:  It does go to the expert issue. 

5 It just goes -- your motioning -- Staff goes

6 beyond the expert issue, so it encompasses our

7 issue if it goes beyond it.

8 MR. ANDREOLI:  Staff has not disputed our

9 opportunity to conduct discovery on its expert --

10 its witnesses -- its testifying witnesses and has

11 responded.  The only issue we have with respect

12 to CUB and Cook County is that certain identified

13 documents that its witness either altered or

14 relied upon them on his disclosed opinion.  It is

15 exactly the opposite question.

16 MR. PERA:  I'll leave it to the judges.  It's

17 not worth the time.  You guys decide.

18 JUDGE HAYNES:  We are required to provide the

19 Commissioners with a report within a certain

20 amount of time from the appeal, so your report

21 will get to the Commissioners before our report

22 with respect to Staff's appeal.
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1 JUDGE DOLAN:  Unless you specifically request

2 that they delay -- I mean, obviously, they would

3 probably hear --

4 JUDGE HAYNES:  CUBs will be before the

5 Commission on the 24th; and if they want to hold

6 it to decide it at the same time of Staff's,

7 that's --

8 MR. PERA:  I was only suggesting that if you

9 wanted to give them a heads up, that there's a --

10 what we believe to be a similar issue in the

11 pipeline, that will be at them in a couple weeks,

12 if you don't want to, if you don't -- you know,

13 that's fine.

14 JUDGE HAYNES:  It doesn't matter what we want

15 to, we're required to give our report to the

16 Commissioners within a certain amount of time.

17 MR. PERA:  But within that report you can

18 clearly say there's a similar issue in the pike.

19 JUDGE HAYNES:  Our report will go to the

20 Commissioners before we get their appeal, so --

21 MR. PERA:  It's okay.  I was just trying to be

22 helpful.  Forget it.
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1 JUDGE HAYNES:  Since Nicor has dropped their

2 objection to the stay, our rule stands; however,

3 the stay is pending Commission's appeal -- a

4 decision of an interlocutory appeal which Staff

5 will file on February 20th and Nicor will respond

6 on February 25th, and it will most likely be

7 before the Commissioners on March 3rd.

8 MR. ROONEY:  Thank you, your Honor.

9 MR. ANDREOLI:  Thank you, your Honor.

10 MR. REICHART:  Thank you.

11 MR. KELTER:  Can I just ask a quick clarifying

12 question?  Because you said something about the

13 CUB, Cook County appeal being taken up by the

14 Commission on February 24th, which was the first

15 time I heard that.  I'm just wondering if you're

16 saying that's the date when you anticipate the

17 Commission issuing a ruling or if that's the date

18 they're discussing --

19 JUDGE HAYNES:  The Commission does not have to

20 rule on interlocutory appeals.  The only thing

21 the rules say is that we must have a report

22 within a certain number of days and then we put
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1 it before the Commission at the next available

2 session and they're free to hold it or not.

3 MR. KELTER:  I was just asking what the date

4 of the 24th meant.  So what you'e saying is,

5 that's the date you put your report before the

6 Commission?

7 JUDGE HAYNES:  That's the day it will be on

8 the agenda.

9 JUDGE DOLAN:  Well, that's what we're

10 anticipating, but the Commission sets their own

11 agenda; but based on the time frame, that's where

12 it looks like it should be.

13 Is there anything else to address

14 concerning this motion? 

15                 (No response.)

16 JUDGE DOLAN:  Shall we move on to Cook County?

17 MR. PERA:  Yeah.  As you know, we filed a

18 motion to compel this morning.  We got from Nicor

19 a third or fourth supplemental response, which

20 was marked as complete.  So at this point, until

21 we have an opportunity to look through the

22 documents, we don't know how complete it is or if
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1 we would have a basis to bring anything before

2 you, so it's somewhat moot.  But the only thing I

3 did want to say on the record was that Nicor, in

4 its pleading, described the actions that the Cook

5 County State's Attorney's office has taken in

6 regard to these discovery disputes as both

7 unlawful and improper.  And, you know, I just

8 want to say on the record that I am offended by

9 that, both as an attorney and as a member of the

10 Cook County State's Attorney's Office, that any

11 action that I would take on behalf of the Office

12 is either unlawful or improper.

13 I think we have a right to raise

14 whatever legal issues we deem appropriate.  We

15 respect Nicor's right to do what they need to do

16 and, obviously, the Judges right to make rulings. 

17 We clearly have the right to take those matters

18 up on appeal, that does not make them unlawful or

19 improper.

20 So, you know, kind of following up on

21 what you had said earlier, you know, we're kind

22 of getting into the crunch time here and I really
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1 hope that everyone can kind of, you know, keep

2 the incendiary comments at a minimum because

3 otherwise we're going to be at each other's

4 throats and this kind of characterization is not

5 helpful.

6 MR. ROONEY:  I believe we had a conversation

7 with Mr. Pera about this topic, and I believe our

8 intent was to mean that their position -- what we

9 believe to be contrary to the law and at worse,

10 that was a poor word choice, but we've had this

11 conversation, but I appreciate Mr. Pera's wanting

12 to put it on the record.

13 JUDGE DOLAN:  That's fine.  I think Judge

14 Haynes and myself both will be in agreement to

15 that; that is, there has been a little bit too

16 much mud-slinging going on in this docket; and,

17 you know, we're all professionals here and I

18 would appreciate it -- we would appreciate that,

19 you know, a professional demeanor when you walk

20 into the courtroom.  I think it would make this

21 delicate matter go a lot smoother for all the

22 parties before this Commission.
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1 Mark, I've got a quick question for you.

2 MR. PERA:  Sure.

3 JUDGE DOLAN:  In looking at your service list

4 as compared to everybody else's, you had a few

5 other people included in it and one person that

6 somewhat concerns me, and I just want to make a

7 disclosure that I did work for Rooks Pitts and

8 George Gilkerson is listed on your service list. 

9 And he's not listed on any other service list.  I

10 looked in our records and I don't see that he's a

11 party to this case.

12 MR. PERA:  I know how George got involved in

13 the case.  He was the attorney for one of the

14 witnesses, but --

15 MR. ROONEY:  He's individual counsel for

16 Mr. Upshaw and he's not in the case.

17 MR. PERA:  We'll delete him.  That's our

18 mistake.

19 JUDGE DOLAN:  I left Rooks in '98.  So,

20 technically, I didn't have to really disclose it,

21 but I didn't want anybody to think that --

22 MR. PERA:  We appreciate that.  We'll remove
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1 him.  Who else, while you're at it?

2 JUDGE DOLAN:  No, that one just stood out

3 because I used to work for them, so I recognized

4 the name.  But like I said, I don't know if

5 there's anybody else on the service list, but I

6 just didn't know are these people also getting

7 all the information that you're filing, then,

8 even confidential information?

9 MR. PERA:  No.  They're not getting

10 confidential information.  No.  They obviously

11 got the e-mail sending out the motion, but I'll

12 have my secretaries double-check that service

13 list against, probably, Nicor's or CUB's and make

14 sure it's consistent.

15 JUDGE DOLAN:  All right.  Thank you.

16 MR. ROONEY:  Just to be --

17 MR. KELTER:  I'm sorry, I was going to say, I

18 don't think we're serving any of the individual

19 attorneys who represented the deponents with all

20 these pleadings.

21 MR. ROONEY:  No.  No.  No.

22 JUDGE DOLAN:  Like I said, I noticed his name



559

1 on the service list.

2 MR. PERA:  Overzelousness.

3 MS. DOSS:  No.  He asked to be on the service

4 list, but he never formally intervened in the

5 proceedings.  But at the deposition he did ask to

6 be included, and that's how he got on the service

7 list.

8 JUDGE DOLAN:  Okay.  And, finally, the last

9 issue that we do want to discuss is the

10 affidavits.  I see that we've gotten quite a

11 stack of affidavits.  Do we -- are we pretty much

12 concluded that everybody has provided us the

13 affidavits that are going to be providing them?

14 MR. ROONEY:  Yes.

15 JUDGE DOLAN:  Okay.  Well, Judge Haynes and I

16 discussed it.  And since everybody has

17 affirmatively denied that they were the person, I

18 think our next step is that we are going to issue

19 a subpoena upon the plaintiff's attorney in the

20 shareholder's case and ask him to provide us the

21 information as to who disclosed confidential

22 information to him.  And from that point on, we
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1 will take the necessary steps.

2 MR. ROONEY:  Your Honor, to that point, I

3 appreciate it because Nicor is very concerned

4 about that.  The one thing that we viewed, and

5 from our standpoint maybe it's just a wording

6 error on this, is, Rob, with regard to CUB's

7 affidavits.  I'll just take for example Jerry

8 Merswa's (phonetic).  On No. 4, there's a

9 statement, I did not disclose the Metz (phonetic)

10 memo information at issue with anyone outside of

11 CUB.  And I guess my question there is, I know

12 that you've been working in concert with the Cook

13 County State's Attorney's Office and that you

14 jointly filed a motion for -- the way -- it seems

15 a little bit restrictive in a sense that -- I

16 don't know if that was just -- you were focusing

17 on CUB and we just had a question with respect to

18 what that meant because, for example, last year

19 when you and Cook County State's Attorney's

20 Office joined to file the motion for sanctions,

21 the Metz memo is part of that, and I'm assuming

22 that someone from the State's Attorney's Office
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1 talked to Merswa about it.

2 MR. KELTER:  I didn't -- I, actually, another

3 attorney in our office was involved in the filing

4 of that and I'll have to check.  I don't have

5 that in front of me, so I don't know what exactly

6 if says.

7 MR. ROONEY:  All I'm just -- raising it from a

8 practical standpoint.  You might want to be sure

9 about the accuracy of these when we go outside,

10 your Honor, I mean, we're not objecting to

11 issuing subpoenas, I'm just pointing that out as,

12 maybe, something that we need to be focused on.

13 JUDGE DOLAN:  Well, John, since you did bring

14 that up, there is an interesting -- if you look

15 at -- and I specifically noticed on Russ

16 Strobel's affidavit, but there was a lot of Nicor

17 affidavits that only had the first part of your

18 affidavit, and it did not have any of the second

19 part of the information.  I didn't know if that

20 was intentional or if someone --

21 MR. ROONEY:  Yeah, it was intentional

22 because -- I note, for example Mr. Strobel was
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1 the general counsel at the time we first produced

2 the Metz memorandum.  And with respect to the

3 Harms (phonetic) deposition, he was in a

4 different position and I can't recall -- do you

5 have Mr. Strobel's dep handy?

6 MR. ANDREOLI:  (Tendering.)

7 MR. ROONEY:  Actually, he addresses both

8 documents that he did not disclose either.

9 JUDGE DOLAN:  But it seemed like there were

10 some Nicor ones that were shorter than some of

11 the other ones.  I don't have them in front of me

12 to point out the differences, but --

13 MR. ROONEY:  For example, one of the things up

14 at this point in time, your Honor, is that other

15 than -- for example, Al Harms, Mr. Harms was the

16 only one who has had access to his deposition

17 with his Counsel.  The other Nicor employees --

18 JUDGE DOLAN:  Did not.

19 MR. ROONEY:  -- have not seen the other

20 employee depositions to this point.  And, so,

21 that's why they were crafted a little bit

22 differently.  Some may have seen Mr. Metz's memo
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1 but not the Harms deposition transcript.

2 JUDGE DOLAN:  Okay.  All right.  That

3 clarifies things.

4 MR. ROONEY:  Had seen or had access to, I

5 guess is -- to be more precise.

6 JUDGE DOLAN:  Thank you.

7 MR. PERA:  Can I ask a question about the

8 subpoena?

9 JUDGE DOLAN:  Yes.

10 MR. PERA:  I just assume you're going to issue

11 the subpoena with notice to all of us and it will

12 be -- let me just back up.

13 How do you foresee this going?  Just out

14 of curiosity, I mean, what -- mechanically, how

15 do you perceive it?

16 JUDGE DOLAN:  Well, ideally, you know, we're

17 going to give him the opportunity to provide us

18 the information without appearing in person. 

19 What I think -- what we'll probably do is just

20 pick a date for him to appear before us, but

21 we'll put in the language of the subpoena that if

22 he wishes to provide us the information in lieu
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1 of personal appearance, you know, then he will

2 provide it to us.  And, obviously, if we received

3 it, you know, we will put it on E-docket or send

4 out notice to everybody that we received the

5 information.  Otherwise, you know, we're going to

6 set it for a date certain; and if he doesn't

7 proceed -- or doesn't, you know, provide us the

8 information in advance, we expect him to appear

9 before us.  And if he doesn't appear before us or

10 refuses to answer, then, you know, we'll take the

11 appropriate next steps which, as you indicated,

12 might end up having to be, appointing a special

13 prosecutor, I guess, I don't know.

14 MR. PERA:  I don't know if I said that.  Did I

15 say that?  I don't know.  Did I say that?

16 JUDGE DOLAN:  You said we had the Cook County

17 State's Attorney, we got the Attorney General's

18 Office and we got the, you know...

19 MR. PERA:  Yeah.  You pretty much exhausted -- 

20 have to get the Feds, I guess, I don't know.

21 JUDGE DOLAN:  But, you know, it does say in

22 the rules that failure to comply with the
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1 subpoena can be, you know, I think it's a Class A

2 misdemeanor, something like that, so...

3 MR. PERA:  Okay.

4 JUDGE DOLAN:  But, I mean, hopefully it won't

5 come down to that, but, you know, this is an

6 important document that's disclosure should not

7 have taken place, and I think it's very important

8 to everybody here that it's determined before we

9 go to trial, rather than coming out later

10 somewhere on down the line.

11 MR. PERA:  Okay.

12 JUDGE DOLAN:  Does anybody feel that we need

13 to set another status?  I mean, we'll probably --

14 I anticipated probably sometime in March we'll be

15 getting together for the subpoena, but we

16 don't -- we haven't picked the date out yet and

17 we have to give him, I think, 15 days from

18 receipt, so we have to make all those

19 determinations.

20 MR. ROONEY:  I think, your Honor, we've had

21 some brief conversations with Mr. Pera and

22 Mr. Balough addressing a number of topics and I
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1 think one of the thoughts we had was to -- after

2 this hearing, to convene on -- maybe a brief

3 discussion and then get back to you on maybe a

4 date other than the date you may have in mind for

5 the subpoena issue, or maybe we'll work together

6 to deal with some scheduling issues.

7 JUDGE DOLAN:  Okay.  Did we want to -- well,

8 since we anticipate, probably, Staff's

9 interlocutory appeal to be heard on March 3rd, so

10 we would probably pick some time after that.

11 MR. ROONEY:  If I could suggest, maybe if we

12 had a discussion and then we can come back to you

13 and contact with you for a date certain.

14 JUDGE DOLAN:  That's fine.

15 MR. PERA:  Before we do it now, I'm out --

16 JUDGE HAYNES:  Off the record.

17                 (Discussion off the record.)

18 JUDGE DOLAN:  We're entered and continued

19 until April 8th at 10:00 a.m. for status.

20

21

22
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1                 (whereupon, the hearing in the

2                 above-entitled matter was

3                 continued until April 8, 2004,

4                 at 10:00 a.m.) 
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